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In the same issue, Rev. C. Howard Davis published the
first article to appear in Nazarene publications dealing ex-
clusively with home missions. His initial appeal was as
follows:

Are you, dear reader, interested? Without the home mission work
we can have no other. The home work must be cared for and im-
proved, or else we shall soon have no work in foreign fields.

Every soul saved, helped at home, makes one more to help in what
we call foreign fields. Every church strengthened at home, and
pushing on gospel lines makes another missionary church.

The gospel is a missionary gospel. The love of Christ constraineth
us, moveth us for those far and near who are still strangers to God
and his great salvation, to do and win all we can for him.

Shall we not put new life into our home work this year and be the
means in the hands of the Spirit to save at least one soul this year?
Shall we give of our means to help some struggling company on
their feet to hold on in their community and become a strong people
for God and holiness?

Yours at the feet of Jesus, praying for a revival in home missions
that will sweep through our churches and cross oceans, reaching
the darkest corners of the earth. (Beulah Christian, May, 1902, p. 1.)

Rev. C. Howard Davis made use of every opportunity to
publicize the program of home missions. His next article
appeared in the Beulah Christian, October, 1902. He wrote:

The field is the world. Harvest is plenteous, but laborers are few;
pray for extra help.

Have you a dollar to give for home work this summer? Faith and
works go together; has your prayer for revival been closely followed
by financial help?

The Missionary Committee through the Home Missionary Secretary
desires to open up new fields. Calls from such fields are heard;
we want to enter. Will you help us by sending your subscription
to the undersigned at the earliest possible moment?

We must be life-savers. We profess to be; do we act like it?

Brother, sister, let us up and do at once; drive the devil by faith and
prayer and money from the field. Amen. (Beulah Christian, Oc-
tober, 1902, p. 7.)

In order to give adequate publicity to the work of the
Missionary Committee, an advertisement layout covering a
full page was printed in each issue of the Beulah Christian,
beginning January, 1903. Each ad carried this title, “Mission-
ary Interests.” At the bottom of the copy the names of
“Rev. H. F. Reynolds, Foreign Missionary Secretary,” and
“Rev. C. Howard Davis, Home Missionary Secretary,” always
appeared.
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conventions were held in nineteen different states. A total
of seventy-two denominations were represented in these ser-
vices. There were about twenty-five hundred seekers for
pardon or purity. In most of these services opportunities
were given for anointing and praying over the sick. Many
witnessed to the healing power of the Lord.

Beginning with the great home missionary service at the
General Assembly of 1919, and concluding with the series of
coast-to-coast holiness conventions, the General Board of Home
Missions and Evangelism had many results to show for its
first four years of existence. Its contributions were so numer-
ous that this emphasis would be permanently ingrained in the
general structure of the church.

Organizational Pattern of Home Missions and Evangelism
—In 1923, the administrative program of the church under-
went a drastic change. At the General Assembly of that year,
a policy was adopted that abolished some ten independently
functioning boards and in their place set up a General Board
which was divided into five departments. Each department
was formed from members of the General Board; the business
transacted by the department was to be approved by the
General Board as a whole; and each department would be
financed by allotments made by the General Board from a
unified budget. The special interests of the church which
were honored with the distinction of becoming departments
of the General Board were Foreign Missions, Home Missions
and Evangelism, Church Extension, Publications, and Minis-
terial Benevolence. This indicated that home missions and
evangelism were linked together at the top level of the church.

The officers of this first Department of Home Missions
and Evangelism were J. W. Short, president; J. T. Little, vice-
president; and C. B. Jernigan, recording secretary.

Personnel of the Department of Home Missions and Evan-
gelism—Church leaders with an insatiable desire to promote
the expansion of our work and propelled by an irrepressible
passion for evangelism have composed the membership of this
department from time to time. This roll call by quadrennia
is as follows:

1928-32—N. B. Herrell, chairman; W. W. Ward, vice-
chairman; E. O. Chalfant, recording secretary; J. E. Gaar,
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who have answered the call to become Christian workers.
Several of these have come to the States to pursue a training
course that will qualify them for useful service.

One of the most remarkable conversions in the history of
the Alaskan work took place under the ministry of Mr. Korody.
A dope ring was put out of business by this miracle of grace.
This fantastic story is graphically described in Helen Temple’s
book Declare His Wonders.

Another demonstration of Christian sharing was evidenced
in 1955 when a branch Sunday school and mission were
started. This new outlet was located in the Homesite Park
section of Anchorage. Volunteer laborers from the Anchorage
church worked diligently to construct a suitable edifice for
Sunday school and worship services. In 1956 this group was
organized into the ninth Church of the Nazarene in Alaska
under the title Anchorage Minnesota Avenue. The first pastor
of the new church was Rev. Arden Sickenberger.

The other church in Anchorage was renamed Thirteenth
Avenue Church of the Nazarene. Rev. M. R. Korody is still
(1957) the aggressive pastor of this group. He has witnessed
unusual progress during the past eight years of his ministry
in this fruitful field. At present this church has a membership
of 112, an average weekly attendance in Sunday school of 168,
raises $30,000 annually for all purposes, and has property
valued at $178,500.

A Fourth Church Is Organized—The next city penetrated
by the Church of the Nazarene was Seward. The pioneer of
this project was Rev. L. C. Hopkins. Without any promise of
financial support he and his wife and daughter, Sharon, went
to Seward in the fall of 1950. He secured a secular job to
provide the necessities of life, and in his spare time searched
for a place to hold services. By January, 1951, he made ar-
rangement to rent the Dockside Union Hall on Sunday morn-
ings. The building was not conducive to religious services but
the faith of the young minister held steady in the face of almost
insurmountable odds. For a long time there was only a hand-
ful attending the services. This is evidenced by the fact that
in July a rally day was set in the Sunday school and the goal
was ten pupils.

Mr. Hopkins spent many hours interceding in behalf of
the spiritual welfare of the people. His prayer was wonder-
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fully answered when the Lord directed a group of Christian
workers from Nampa, Idaho, to go to Seward and assist in
the work. The church made advances immediately. By the
close of July the group of faithful Christians had increased to
the point that a church was organized. The charter members
of the church numbered seventeen—twelve by letter of trans-
fer and five by profession of faith.

High Lights in the History of the Seward Church—The
property problem was gradually solved. Before the close of
1951 three choice lots had been secured. However, the money
was not in sight to purchase materials for a building. The
church was called to prayer to intercede in this behalf. The
answer that was forthcoming provided a donation of sufficient
lumber to build both a church and a parsonage. Adequate
housing brought an accelerated growth to the program of the
church.

Rev. L. C. Hopkins continued as pastor until May, 1955.
As of that date, the church had progressed to the point where
it reported forty-six members, sixty-three average weekly at-
tendance in Sunday school, $20,000 raised annually for all
purposes, and had property valued at $30,000.

The pastor that succeeded Rev. L. C. Hopkins was Rev.
Aubrey Ponce. He and his family have assumed the responsi-
bilities of this advancing work in a commendable manner. The
1956 District Assembly was conducted at Seward. At that time
(April 22, 1956) a dedication service for the new building was
a part of the assembly program. Dr. G. B. Williamson was
the presiding general superintendent and he delivered the
dedicatory sermon. His text was Acts 19:20; his subject was
“The Secret of Growth of the Church.” Since this impressive
service the Seward church has continued to enlarge its borders
by winning many to the Lord.

In March, 1957, Rev. Aubrey Ponce and his family moved
to Kenai, to pioneer a new work. His successor at Seward
was Rev. John Vaughn, who assumed his pastoral duties in
June, 1957. The church continues its steady progress under
his consecrated leadership.

The First Annual Assembly—In the spring of 1951,
Dr. Hardy C. Powers decided that the work in Alaska was far
enough advanced to justify the convening of an assembly. The
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notice was sent to the four pastors that this meeting would
be held at Fairbanks and the opening date would be April 17,
1951, The host pastor to the assembly was Rev. J. Melton
Thomas, who had been pastoring the Fairbanks church since
October, 1947. The presiding officer of the meeting was Dr.
Hardy C. Powers. Other ministers present were Rev. M. R.
Korody; Rev. L. C. Hopkins; Dr. R. G. Fitz; Rev. Mrs. Iva L.
Berry; Chaplain Captain Conley D. Pate, stationed with U.S.
Infantry in Alaska; Rev. Clark Lewis, pastor in Nome (1950-
51) during the furlough of Rev. Lewis Hudgins.

Many important items of business were voted by the
assembly. A district chairman for each of the following
auxiliaries was elected: Church Schools, Rev. M. R. Korody;
Nazarene Foreign Missionary Society, Rev. Mrs. Iva L. Berry;
Nazarene Young People’s Society, Rev. Lewis Hudgins. The
group also ordered that a district paper be published each
month to promote local, district, and general interests. The
name of the bulletin was the Alaskan Nazarene. Rev. Clark
Lewis was named editor. The assembly delegates indicated
their interest in the educational program of the church by
requesting that they be allowed to pay an educational budget
to Northwest Nazarene College. They also expressed a desire
to assume some responsibility for a General Budget and set
this amount at $2,710.

At the assembly the churches reported the following sta-
tistics: church membership, 119; Sunday school enrollment,
280; value of church property, $140,000.

This first annual assembly enabled the Alaskan Nazarenes
to consolidate their gains, take inventory of their assets, and
make plans for future advancement. The significance of the
occasion proved to everyone present that the Church of
the Nazarene would become a vital and permanent part of the
religious life of Alaska.

The Fifth Church Is Organized—Mr. and Mrs. Hudgins
returned to Nome from furlough in August, 1951. This re-
leased Rev. Clark Lewis for a new assignment. The place
picked for this endeaver was Ketchikan. He and his family
arrived in Ketchikan on Labor Day, September 3, 1951. In a
few days they found a Nazarene lady who was going to be
away for several weeks and she subleased her house to the
new minister. Then the search was on for a place for perma-
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members of a church organization. This forward step was
taken on November 29, 1953.

Rev. J. Melton Thomas continued as pastor for the next
three years and then returned to the States as pastor in
Shawnee, Oklahoma. His successor at Juneau was Rev. A. R.
Johnson. The Johnson family made their adjustments quickly
to the new environment and have carried the work forward.
At present there are twenty members in the church, the
Sunday school averages thirty-five each week, and the church
raises about $400 monthly for all purposes.

Recent DeveELoPMENTS (1953——)

Broadening the District Functions—Immediately preced-
ing the District Assembly of 1953, two important district
conventions were conducted. The first District N.F.M.S. Con-
vention convened at Anchorage on April 28, 1953. The 5
functioning societies reported a membership of 116. The
officers elected by this first district convention were as follows:
president, Rev. Mrs. Iva L. Berry; vice-president, Mrs. Muriel
Hudgins; secretary-treasurer, Mrs. Maude Morrison; superin-
tendent of study, Mrs. Lura Fitz. A resolution was adopted
that the societies raise at least $2,000 for missions during the
coming year.

The first District N.Y.P.S. Convention was held at
Anchorage on April 29, 1953. The 5 functioning youth groups
reported membership of 120. The officers elected by this first
convention were as follows: president, Harry Reimer; vice-
president, J. Melton Thomas; secretary-treasurer, Miss Ida
Beeman. Many important plans were presented to promote the
youth program in the future.

Immediately following the District Assembly in 1953 an-
other type of convention was conducted. This was the first
annual Church Schools Convention. It convened on May 1,
1953, at Anchorage. The 5 operating Sunday schools reported
an enrollment of 548. The convention was presided over by
Rev. M. R. Korody, the district Church Schools chairman. The
reports and the challenging goals presented proved to be a
source of inspiration and helpfulness.

With every phase of the district work functioning the
chances for future progress were measurably enhanced.
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messenger. Several persons with spiritual needs responded to
the invitation and testified to finding victory. This was the
token of the Lord’s favor upon Mr. Daniels as the special leader
of the Alaskan program.

Many other indications have followed to prove that the
Lord is leading onward in this great harvest field. Mr. Daniels
is already spying out the land and he has listed Big Delta,
Kodiak, Homer, Kenai, Petersburg, Palmer, and Wrangell as
prospective places for Churches of the Nazarene to be
developed.

Homnor Roll of Churches—Two of the churches, Anchorage
Thirteenth Avenue and Fairbanks First, have achieved the
status of being self-supporting. The latter reached this level
of efficiency first, in 1952. Other churches are rapidly moving
in this direction and the number in this classification will
increase from time to time.

The Alaskan churches have been schooled in the prin-
ciple of 10 per cent giving for General Budget purposes. The
churches that qualify for this type of program are Anchorage
Thirteenth Avenue, Fairbanks First, Fairbanks Totem Park,
and Ketchikan.

All of the churches, even from the moment of inception,
assume some financial obligations in the areas of district,
general, and educational budgets. This demonstrates their
desire to promote the total program of the church. For in-
stance, in 1956 all of the churches subscribed to a district
budget that amounted to about $4,500.00; a General Budget
that totaled about $8,000.00; and an educational budget equiva-
lent to 4 per cent of all local monies raised, less buildings and
improvements, plus an amount equal to $2.00 per member.
These tokens of loyalty to the world-wide outreach of the
church give each group a special place of distinction on a
roll of honor.

At present the churches in Alaska have a total member-
ship of 364; a Sunday school enrollment of 1,183 with an
average weekly attendance of 709. During 1956 this loyal
group of Nazarenes raised a total of $112,376 for all purposes.
The largest church is Anchorage Thirteenth Avenue with 112
members, and Fairbanks First is next in size with a member-
ship of 92.
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CHAPTER 1III
THE NAZARENE HIGHWAY IN HAWAII

BAcCKGROUND TO NAZARENE PENETRATION (1944-46)

Location and Population—Reaching up out of the Pacific
Ocean halfway between the United States and Asia is a chain
of volcanic peaks commonly called the Hawaiian Islands.
Twenty islands are anchored in this {leet; nine are inhabited.
With sharp-jutting mountains forming the backdrop for
spacious beaches which are washed by the blue waters of
the Pacific, this area has been called the “Paradise of the
Pacific.” The name is derived from the name of one of the
biggest islands, which is called Hawaii. Other important
islands are Oahu, Maui, Lanai, Molokai, and Kauai. This
chain extends 390 miles from the northwest to the southeast,
and comprises a land area of 6,435 square miles, of which 4,021
are the one island Hawaii.

The population of the islands numbers about 550,000. Of
these, 185,000 are Japanese; 95,000 are Caucasians; about
70,000 are Koreans and Filipinos; and the remainder are
divided between Hawaiians, Chinese, Puerto Ricans, and
others.

The religions of the people are as varied as their races.
The religious distribution is as follows: Catholics, 30 per
cent; Buddhists, 25 per cent; Protestants, 6 per cent; other
religious groups, 3 per cent. The remaining 36 per cent are
unchurched. This vast mutlitude represents the challenge for
evangelization to the Church of the Nazarene.

Servicemen Make a Suggestion—In the autumn of 1944,
Navyman O. J. Wooldridge, Jr., a Nazarene from Kilgore,
Texas, had a brief shore leave in Honolulu. He planned to
attend a Church of the Nazarene while in this area, but much
to his surprise, he did not find one in Honolulu. Immediately
he penned a letter to his former pastor, Rev, Leo Baldwin,
and included the following questions: “What is the matter
with the Church of the Nazarene? Why aren’t they in Hawaii?
Many churches are there but no Nazarene churches.” When
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Mr. Baldwin received this letter he started praying that the
Lord would call someone to engage in the task of planting the
church in this new area.

At the time, Mr. Baldwin was pastoring in Kansas City;
therefore he made an appointment with Dr. C. Warren Jones,
foreign missions secretary, to talk about opening work in
Hawaii. Dr. Jones showed Mr. Baldwin a collection of letters
from Nazarene servicemen in Hawaii who had raised the
same questions as Sailor Wooldridge. One letter was from
Serviceman Vernon Kilpatrick of Pawhuska, Oklahoma. He
wrote this statement: “I will soon be leaving, but the need
is as great as ever. . . . I do hope that before much longer
there will be someone who will feel a call to Honolulu to
spread the Nazarene doctrine of holiness.”

After this contact with the foreign missions secretary,
the prayers of Mr. Baldwin became more intense. He was
petitioning the Lord to send someone. However, one day his
prayer changed to, “Lord, here am I; send me.” The prayer
was soon answered.

On January 11, 1946, Mr. Baldwin was invited to meet
with the Board of General Superintendents for a special con-
ference. This board informed him that the Church of the
Nazarene was ready to open work in Hawaii and that he had
been selected as the pioneer for this mission.

Struggling for a Beachhead—Rev. Leo Baldwin resigned
his pastorate and he and his family set sail for Hawaii on
May 10, 1946. Five days later the ship docked at Honolulu
harbor and the Baldwin family stepped down the gangplank,
amidst a surging mass of people. These courageous repre-
sentatives of the church had no idea what was ahead, but they
operated with the assurance that the “steps of a good man
are ordered by the Lord.”

Miraculously the Lord worked everything out so that
the Baldwins would be met at the pier by Mr. and Mrs.
William Henck. The latter couple were Nazarenes from
Annapolis, Maryland, and they had lived on the islands for
six years. They had been informed of the arrival date of the
Baldwins but they had no idea how to identify the new minis-
ter and his family. However, amid a surging crowd, these
two families were brought together and a time of rejoicing
followed.
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all parts of the islands. He not only carried the title of pastor
of the local church but also superintendent of the Hawaiian
District. As his burden for both increased, it became evident
that he was going to have to give more time to developing
new churches if he did justice to the opportunities. He decided
to relinquish the pastorate in May, 1949, to devote his atten-
tion to promoting the interests of the entire field of harvest.
The pastor selected for the Makiki Church was Rev. Leo
Steininger. At the time of his appointment he was pastoring
at Blue Island, Illinois. He and his wife moved to this new
field of labor and enjoyed a fruitful ministry during their
three-year term of service.

As they studied the needs of the people of the community
Mr. and Mrs. Steininger became convinced that one of the
best avenues of service would be in the area of developing
a kindergarten program. As a result, a five-day-a-week kinder-
garten was started. Mrs. Steininger served as superintendent
of the work, and the program enlarged until she had to employ
two assistants. This step placed the church before many un-
churched families and paved the way for winning many of
these families to the Lord.

During 1952, Mr. Steininger returned to the States, and
his successor was Rev. A. J. Gunter, who at the time of his
appointment was pastoring First Church in Tuscaloosa, Ala-
bama. He and his wife and two daughters made their adjust-
ments to the new assignment quickly.

Negotiations were already under way for a new property
in another section of the city. The building under considera-
tion had been previously used as a theater but with slight
modification it had the possibility of being converted into an
attractive church. The deal was soon consummated by Rev.
Cecil Knippers, who was now the district superintendent,
and two laymen of the church, Mr. Arthur L. Jenison and
U.S.N. Chief Tom Wood. In the process of changing locations
the name of the church was changed to Honolulu First Church.

In 1954, Rev. Harold Kiemel became the pastor of this
congregation. The Kiemel family left the parsonage of the
Moreland Memorial Church in Portland to become a part of
the Hawaii program.

During the first year the Sunday school attendance
climbed to a weekly average of 211. At that time the Sunday
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real estate acquired was located at the corner of Twelfth
Avenue and Pahoa Street. A large house with 10,000 square
feet of ground was included in the purchase. On April 6,
1949, the Kaimuki group started holding services in this
reconstructed building. Much of the credit for both the rapid
and excellent job of remodeling goes to Mr. and Mrs. Hastings,
the consecrated parents of Mrs. Welch. These faithful laymen
stayed on the job for over a year and refused to receive any
pay for their labor.

On Easter Sunday, April 17, 1949, the church was officially
organized with thirteen charter members.

High Lights in the History of the Kaimuki Church—
The Welches continued as pastors until the latter part of No-
vember, 1951. At that time an opening came for the starting
of a new work at Hilo on the island of Hawaii. Rev. Cecil
Knippers had arrived at Honolulu the month before to assume
the responsibilities of district superintendent of the Hawaiian
work and to serve as pastor of the Kaimuki Church. The
pastoral relationship was maintained until 1953, at which time
the Kaimuki Church was taken over by Rev. and Mrs. Edward
Phillips. Under their inspiring and effective leadership the
church has made constant progress. The successor was Rev.
Robert T. Gore, who came from Daytona Beach, Florida, in
February, 1957. As of 1957, the statistical record showed a
membership of 65, an average weekly attendance in Sunday
school of 106, a property valuation of $25,000, and an average
of $5,500 raised annually for all purposes.

Starting the Third Church—The next church started was
located at Wahiawa on the island of Oahu. Rev. and Mrs.
Norman Moore were asked to open this work. They had been
in the Hawaiian Islands since the summer of 1947. Mr. and
Mrs. Moore had been appointed to go to China by the Depart-
ment of Foreign Missions and they decided to do their language
study in the Hawaiian Islands. In the fall of 1948 they were
packed and ready to continue the trip to China. However,
they daily watched with growing apprehension the dishearten-
ing developments of the Chinese civil war. Soon they received
notice from the homeland that all missionaries were being
evacuated from China and that this mission field would be
closed. Immediately Rev. Leo Baldwin notified the Depart-
ment of Foreign Missions that he could use Rev. and Mrs.
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than $20,000. The record in Sunday school attendance was
set at Easter, 1957, with 173 present.

In 1957 the church had a membership of 53, a weekly
average attendance in Sunday school of 117, an annual income
for all purposes of $19,393.

Starting the Fourth Church—The fourth church was lo-
cated at Kailua on the windward side of the island of Oahu.
The initial services were conducted in the home of the district
superintendent, Rev. Leo Baldwin, in 1949. Some of the
workers assisting Mr. Baldwin with this work were Rev. and
Mrs. Joseph Clark. They had come to the islands and pro-
vided their own support. They also desired to work anywhere
and any time for the Lord. Mrs. Clark secured a teaching
position about twenty miles from Kailua. Both of them
offered to assist Mr. Baldwin in promoting the interests of
the new church. On October, 1949, Mr. Clark assumed full
responsibility for the work. A few months later Mr. Baldwin
moved out of the house where the congregation had been
worshiping and Mr. Clark moved in. During the summer of
1950 two lots were purchased, a building was secured and
moved onto the lots, and a remodeling program was launched.
The group started using the building, though unfinished, on
Christmas Sunday morning, 1950.

In November, 1951, a two-week home mission campaign
was conducted in this building by Rev. and Mrs. Cecil Knip-
pers. At the close of this campaign on December 9, 1951, the
church was officially organized with sixteen charter members.
With the exception of Rev. and Mrs. Joe Clark, all of these
members were received on profession of faith.

High Lights in the History of the Kailue Church—Rev.
Joe Clark continued as pastor until 1952, at which time Rev.
and Mrs. Reeford Chaney resigned their pastorate in North
Carolina to become a part of the program of advance at Kailua.
They continued to serve here until October, 1954, when they
asked for the opportunity to start a new home mission project
at Kahului, on the island of Maui.

Rev. and Mrs. Harold Meadows were then called to pastor
the Kailua group. They plunged immediately into a building
program. Under their enthusiastic and capable leadership a
beautiful and commodious church structure was completed
within a year. The District Assembly of 1956 was conducted
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elementary school. Within a few months a building site was
purchased. Through the concerted efforts of the Welches,
Chung Hoons, Stanley Ledbetter, Haraguchis, Paul Miller, and
others who gave many hours of donated labor a building was
erected that was valued at $21,000 with an indebtedness of
less than $3,000. The first service in the new structure was
held on September 7, 1952, with ninety-eight in attendance.

While the building program was in progress the Welches
were forced to return to the mainland of the United States
because of the precarious health of their young daughter,
Pamela. The new pastor was Rev. Stanley Ledbetter. He
stepped into stride on the construction schedule and labored
diligently for its completion.

The next step was the construction of a parsonage. It was
ready for occupancy in November, 1954.

High Lights in the History of the Hilo Church—Until
July, 1953, the group at Hilo operated as a mission. In June
of that year, Mr. and Mrs. Cecil Knippers conducted a ten-
day revival, and at the close of the meeting the church was
officially organized. Though small in numbers, the new church
received a marvelous boost through a revival conducted by
Evangelist C. William and Marjorie Fisher, assisted by Mrs.
Esther Bundy. These workers donated their time to the
-struggling church and this act of generosity was deeply ap-
preciated. This special campaign gave the Hilo group an
optimistic outloock which has characterized this work until
the present.

Rev. Stanley Ledbetter continued as pastor until 1955,
and at that time he was succeeded by Rev. J. B. Cook. The
Cooks were well adjusted to the Hawaiian program, having
served as pastors of the Wahiawa church the past two years.
Upon moving to their new assignment they capitalized on the
excellent seed which had been sown by their predecessors.
According to the 1957 report the church now has a membership
of 23, a weekly average Sunday school attendance of 58; and
a property evaluation of $33,000 (church $23,000, and parson-
age $10,000). The present indebtedness is $4,800.

FormuLaTiNG A DistricT ProgrAM (1952——)

The First District Church Missionary Society Convention
—The first missionary convention was held on March 25, 1952,
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also provide space for a study and a district headquarters
office.

The First N.Y.P.S. Camp and Institute—The young people
of the district planned a youth camp and institute in the
summer of 1952. The hard work required to inaugurate a
program of this type brought many valuable returns. Scores
of young people gathered for the institute. Some missionaries
whose destination was the Philippines were asked to be the
special speakers for the institute. Included in this group were
Rev. and Mrs. Adrian Rosa and Miss Frances Vine. Through
their inspiring messages about forty young people sought the
Lord. This evangelistic emphasis made a vital contribution
to the progress of the entire church program.

District-wide Radio Ministry—From the earliest days of
our work in Hawaii the “Showers of Blessing” radio program
has been an invaluable asset. It has been broadcast through-
out the length and breadth of the islands through KAIM in
Honolulu. From time to time other stations have been added.

As a companion program to “Showers of Blessing” the
Hawaiian District has sponsored its own radio program since
1953. The title used for this broadcast is “The Heaven and
Home Hour.” It is produced each Sunday night at nine-thirty
o’clock. Rev. Cecil Knippers directs the program and is the
principal speaker. His chief assistant is Mr. Robert Jensen.
The program originates in the auditorium of the Kaimuki
Church. All of the churches on the island of Oahu co-operate
in furnishing talent and special features for this fast-moving
and appealing religious broadcast.

Co-operative Efforts for Promoting the Kingdom—The
activities of Rev. Cecil Knippers have vitally influenced the
program of all evangelical movements in the Hawaiian
Islands. From the time of his arrival on the islands he has
worked diligently with all religious groups who are interested
in promoting the interests of the Lord’s kingdom. He had
been engaged in various types of radio work during his minis-
terial career in the States. One of the first interdenominational
contacts he made after transferring to the islands was with
the Christian Broadcasting Association. Soon he was elected
as a member of the board of this organization and is now its
treasurer. Eventually this opened the way for him to secure
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radio time to launch “The Heaven and Home Hour” men-
tioned above. The budget for our work would in no measure
provide for an extensive broadcast such as this, but through
his contacts Rev. Cecil Knippers has secured incalculable radio
time to promote the interests of the Church of the Nazarene.

Another forward-looking step taken by the evangelical
leaders of the islands was the establishment of the Honolulu
Christian College in 1953. The objective of the institution was
to provide a college-level liberal arts education in a genuinely
Christian environment. The college established a working
relationship with the University of Hawaii whereby the latter
encouraged its students to take courses in the Christian insti-
tution and the work would be recognized at full value by the
university. When the board of trustees for the Christian
college was elected, the Nazarenes were honored with the
chairmanship and vice-chairmanship of the organization. The
former position was held by Mr. J. Robert Jensen, who was
Sunday school superintendent of the Kailua church, district
treasurer, and lay member of the district advisory board. The
latter official was Rev. Cecil Knippers. Through the influence
of these two, a Nazarene was selected as dean of the institution.
The person filling this position was Dr. L. P. Gresham, who
had served as dean of Trevecca Nazarene College for many
years. Dr. Gresham is now president of Honolulu Christian
College.

Another valuable product of interdenominational co-
operation was related to a gigantic, city-wide evangelistic
campaign conducted in Honolulu in 1954. Rev. Cecil Knippers
was president of the Honolulu Evangelical Ministers’ Fellow-
ship and he recommended Dr. Russell V. DeLong, principal
speaker on “Showers of Blessing” broadcast, as evangelist for
the union crusade. This recommendation was accepted and
Dr. DeLong did an outstanding piece of work during this
important revival. His influence and ministry placed the
Church of the Nazarene before the religious groups of Hawaii
in a most favorable manner.

Starting the Sixth Church—The sixth church in the
Hawaiian Islands was started as a mission in February, 1953,
in the city of Honolulu. The minister who took charge of the
services was Rev. James Hokada. He was ably assisted by
a fine group of laymen, including Mr. and Mrs. Harold Egy,
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Clarence Gillespie, and Ray Daulton. The name adopted for
this home mission project was Central Church. However, it
was not organized into a church until August, 1953. The event
which precipitated the transfer from a mission into a church
was a successful revival conducted by Evangelist and Mrs. C.
William Fisher and Mrs. Esther Bundy. The Fishers became
so interested in the project that they joined as charter mem-
bers. They have proved to be valuable members in helping
the church make advances along all lines.

The district superintendent, Rev. Cecil Knippers, assumed
the pastoral responsibilities of this newly organized church
during the first year. Most of that time he was assisted by
Rev. James Hokada, who served as assistant pastor and Sunday
school superintendent. In August, 1954, Rev. J. E. Chastain
was appointed to be the successor to Rev. Cecil Knippers.
The Chastain family has worked effectively and witnessed
many astonishing victories.

This group has the record for the fastest growing church
in the islands. Just four years ago the church started with a
membership of twelve and now it has grown to forty-seven.
The church now raises an average of $100 per week toward
a program of self-support.

Starting the Seventh Church—Rev. Cecil Knippers be-
came concerned about starting a center of holiness evangelism
on the island of Maui, particularly in the port city of Kahului.
He had already secured a building site and purchased a par-
sonage before he made a call for volunteers among his pastors.
Rev. and Mrs. Reeford Chaney responded unhesitatingly. They
resigned their pastorate at Kailua, where they had been for
two years, and started over again to hew out a kingdom.
They arrived at their new location on October 1, 1954. The
half-acre corner lot which had been purchased was turned
into a “tent sanctuary.” The pastor secured the district tent
and placed it on the lot and proceeded to conduct Sunday
school and worship services. Mr. Chaney was not only given
permission to use the tent, but promised a work week from
each minister on the district, including the district superin-
tendent. The building contractor was Mr. Haraguchi, a
Nazarene layman from Hilo. The result of this concerted move
was the erection of a structure worth $20,000 at the small
cost of $8,000 for construction purposes.
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R. J. Plumb, Dr. and Mrs. C. B. Widmeyer, Dr. L. J. Du Bois,
and the Rushing Family. The roster of evangelists includes
the following: Russell V. DeLong, C. William Fisher, Paul and
Hallie Smith, R. Newman Raycroft, Bernie Smith, W. W. Hess,
Leila Dell Miller, Nettie Miller, J. C. and Mrs. Dobson, and
Chaplain Everett Penrod. (The latter was stationed for one
year on Johnston Island, with headquarters in Honolulu.)

Educational Emphasis—The Hawaiian Nazarenes have
taken an active part in promoting the interests of the Honolulu
Christian College. Many of our young people have attended
that institution of higher learning. In addition, several Ha-
walian young people have come to the United States to attend
Nazarene colleges. For instance, in 1954 six Nazarenes from
Hawaii were enrolled in Pasadena College and eight more
were in other Nazarene colleges. Some of these have received
a call from the Lord to give full-time service to the Lord.
These trained and consecrated Christian workers will make a
vital contiibution to our work as they assume the responsi-
bility of proclaiming the gospel to their own people.

Administrative Personnel—The work in the Hawaiian
Islands was placed in the jurisdictional area of General
Superintendent H. V. Miller at the time of its inception. This
relationship continued until his death in 1950 and then the
program was placed under the supervision of Dr. G. B. Wil-
liamson. In 1954, according to the jurisdictional rearrange-
ments of the Board of General Superintendents, this area was
placed under the direction of Dr. Hardy C. Powers. In Feb-
ruary, 1957, Dr. D. I. Vanderpool was assigned the jurisdiction
of this district. Each general superintendent has taken a
special interest in the Hawalian project, and each has rendered
invaluable service by giving unstintingly of his time and
counsel when major decisions needed to be made.

At the district level of leadership the work has been pro-
moted by the unexcelled services of two district superin-
tendents. The pioneer of the program was Rev. Leo Baldwin,
who carried the work through the difficulties of the first five
years, 1946-51. He was succeeded by an untiring and chal-
lenging leader in the person of Rev. Cecil Knippers. The
evangelistic zeal of Rev. Cecil Knippers has successfully
brought the work through the formative years. He has been
the Lord’s servant for this assignment, and the 1957 District
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Two of the churches have become self-supporting. They
are Honolulu First and Honolulu Kaimuki. However, all of
the churches are making progress in this direction, and all
of the churches have adopted the financial plan of giving 10
per cent of the local income for world evangelism.

We now have churches on the four major islands of the
chain. These churches are so well located that there is a
Church of the Nazarene within driving distance of all the
people of the islands with the exception of the combined

population of less than 10,000 who live on the remaining three
inhabited islands.

Conclusion—The highway of holiness in Hawaii is a
strategic development for the Church of the Nazarene. This
puts our church at the main intersection between East and
West. Since many races and cultures and religions come to-
gether at this paradise of nature, the holiness witness will
influence many sections of the world as it is impressively pro-
claimed at this cultural hub. The road signs leading to this
newly constructed highway of holiness are well marked by
the lives and testimonies of faithful Nazarene ministers and
laymen. In this melting pot of the Pacific, forces for righteous-
ness are being set in motion that will be felt around the world.
From the nucleus that is already formed during the first ten
yvears, many wonderful things are in the making as the
Hawaiians enter the second decade. In this earthly paradise
multitudes are securing their passports which will admit them
into the heavenly paradise of eternity.
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CHAPTER IV
THE NAZARENE ADVANCE IN AUSTRALIA

BackGrROUND TO NAZARENE PENETRATION (1944)

Location and Population—The continent of Australia (the
world’s smallest) is an island (the world’s largest) surrounded
by three oceans—the Pacific on the east, the Indian on the
west, and the Antarctic on the south. The area of the country
is approximately 3,000,000 square miles, which is only 47,806
square miles smaller than the United States.

The population is now about 9,200,000. Since much of
the interior of the continent is desert, most of the population
is concentrated along the coast, especially the east and south.
This condition produced an unusual population arrangement.
More than half the people live in five large cities. Sydney,
the third largest city in the British Empire, has a population of
1,550,000; Melbourne has 1,288,000; Adelaide has 490,000;
Brisbane, 550,000; and Perth has approximately 400,000. The
remainder of the population is widely scattered and thinly
settled.

Holiness and the “Herald of Holiness” Help Prepare the
Way—About the turn of the twentieth century, holiness re-
vivals were conducted in Australia by Commissioner Brengle
of the Salvation Army. Among those attracted to this standard
of spiritual excellence was R. T. F. Hoepner, a Methodist
preacher. He first learned of the Church of the Nazarene
through the Herald of Holiness. He became the proud owner
of this precious document through the faithful witnessing of
a Nazarene laywoman from Scotland, who visited Australia in
1922. As Mr. Hoepner read his prized copy of the Herald
with its emphasis on holiness on every page, he prayed that
the Lord would send to Australia preachers from the church
that published the Herald. Although more than twenty years
elapsed before the Nazarene representatives arrived, Mr.
Hoepner never ceased to pray for the establishment of this
holiness denomination in Awustralia.

Others who later became members of the Church of the
Nazarene who were prayer partners for a holiness work in
Australia were Rev. A. C. Chesson and his son Ralph and
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Rev. Harold Madder. This group of prayer warriors pooled
their faith for such a program as early as 1940. Before many
years elapsed their intercessory prayers were answered.

The Lord Sends a Serviceman to Open the Way—The
most important early contact of a member of the Church of
the Nazarene with the Australians came through an unusual
web of circumstances. The person providentially used in this
special mission was Ted Hollingsworth. He was a British-born
American soldier who carried his testimony for holiness into
every phase of his military life. He was stationed in New
Guinea when he contracted a disease which needed specialized
medical attention. In March, 1944, he received notice that he
was to be flown directly to the United States. At the last
moment an air priority came through which changed the
original orders. According to the new plan he was to go
via Australia for several weeks and then to the United States.
This layover in Australia extended to nine weeks, two in
Townsville and seven in Brisbane.

While in Brisbane, Ted Hollingsworth contacted several
evangelical groups. He continued to search for one where his
holiness testimony would count the most. One evening he
was in the Gospel Book Depot in downtown Brisbane and he
asked the clerk if he knew where services might be held that
evening. He was directed to the Mt. Pleasant Gospel Hall.
This was a place where gospel services and a Sunday school
were conducted by Mr. and Mrs. Hubert Kilvert and Mr.
Albert Berg. The former was the manager of a large lumber
company in Brisbane; the latter was an officer in the finance
department of the Australian army. These two men were
giving themselves unreservedly to soul winning through ac-
tivities at the Mt. Pleasant Gospel Hall. They also had a
consuming passion to see the evangelization of Australia.

At the moment Ted Hollingsworth met these two leaders
in the Gospel Hall a wonderful friendship was born. Ted was
invited into the home of the Kilverts and many hours were
spent in prayer, reading the Scriptures, and discussing the
doctrine of holiness. Following this, Ted was asked to preach
on holiness at the Gospel Hall. He gives the following account
of the first service he conducted in the Gospel Hall:

We had a blessed time that night. There was little else done but

prayer offered from hearts that were hungering and thirsting after
the fullness of the blessing. At length the time came for us to
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dismiss. I had spoken briefly of what the Holy Ghost meant to me
in my own life and the reality of the experience right at that
moment. I had urged that they make the obtaining of the pearl
of great price their own main objective and not to rest short of the
indwelling Spirit and the sure knowledge of a personal Pentecost.
Both the Kilverts and Brother Berg were utterly sincere and scrupu-
lously honest in their admissions of need and determination to seek
until they found.

Hollingsworth soon realized that in the small group at
the Gospel Hall a marvelous channel was being carved through
which the Church of the Nazarene could be established. As
weeks passed heart holiness was a common theme of discussion.

In the Sunday service prior to Hollingsworth’s departure,
many people raised their hands indicating their deep need of
and their overwhelming desire for this experience.

Officer Berg declared that he would become the exhorter
for the gospel of a “clean heart,” even though he was not yet
in possession of this sanctifying grace. He pledged to the Lord
and Ted Hollingsworth that he would preach it until he found
it and then he would preach it because he had experienced it.
In return Ted promised that he would do everything possible
to persuade Nazarene leaders to set up plans for entering this
open door of opportunity.

On Tuesday, May 23, 1944, Hollingsworth left Brisbane
for the States. A gripping vision of the future was challenging
his faith. The last continent on our globe was about to be
added to the list of harvest fields of the Church of the
Nazarene.

PREPARATION FOR ENTRANCE (1944-45)

Hollingsworth Presents His Mission—Ted arrived at San
Francisco on June 11, 1944, and was dispatched to Georgia
to receive his discharge. During his stay in Georgia he penned
a letter to Dr. J. B. Chapman, general superintendent in the
Church of the Nazarene, describing the Australian Christians
and their desire for a program of holiness evangelism. Dr.
Chapman referred the matter to Dr. S. T. Ludwig, who was
the executive secretary of the Department of Home Missions.
By the time the Board of General Superintendents met in
September, 1944, for a semiannual session, Ted Hollingsworth
had prepared a manuseript which adequately described the
wonderful opportunities for starting a work in Australia. The
document was entitled “The Evangelization of Australia and
New Zealand.” This information was presented and favorably
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his section of the army. He conducted a weekly prayer meet-
ing at the lunch hour among his military associates. He was
also associated with Mr. Kilvert in sponsoring the services at
Mt. Pleasant Gospel Hall.

A serviceman in the United States Navy was Mr. Berg’s
first contact with the Church of the Nazarene. He had been
reading books on holiness for some time.

After Mr. Berg met Hollingsworth he became a constant
and earnest seeker for this experience. He had felt that the
Lord had already called him to preach. Now the only subject
he preached was holiness. After each message he would in-
clude himself among the seekers and pray for the indwelling
of the Holy Spirit. In January, 1945, this spiritual quest was
climaxed by an invasion of the Holy Spirit into this dedicated
temple. He immediately announced to his friends, “Praise
God, the Comforter has come and given me a clean heart and
He abides in His fullness!”

Accompanying his spiritual victory was a desire to join
the Church of the Nazarene. He applied for both church
membership and ministerial license. When these items of
church relationships were completed in April, 1945, Rev.
Albert Berg had the distinction of being the first Australian
Nazarene.

At this juncture he was asked by Dr. H. V. Miller to be
the church’s representative in Australia until final plans for
the work had been drafted. About this time Mr. Berg received
his discharge from the army, and he then devoted full time
to promoting the interests of the church.

INTTIAL STEPS TOWARD ORGANIZATION (1945-48)

Finding New Recruits—The first new recruit to join
Albert Berg in the task of holiness evangelism in Australia
was Rev. Alfred C. Chesson. He had been acquainted with
Mr. Berg for several years and had been pastoring a Free
Evangelical Fellowship in Sydney. He and his people had been
praying for a Spirit-inaugurated revival to sweep through
Australia. Just at the moment he was the most discouraged
about the outlook for this spiritual awakening he learned of
Berg’s relationship with the Church of the Nazarene. Mr.
Chesson evidenced a vital interest in this development.

Berg soon confronted Chesson with the matter of mem-
bership in the Church of the Nazarene. The latter prayed and
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Lord and with us in doctrine and vision.” A short time after
this initial acquaintance Mr. Clarke applied for membership.
Then he was licensed as a minister in April, 1946.

The Lord’s leadings were evident in drawing together
these four men who were to pioneer our work in Australia.
Since these talented and consecrated ministers had become
linked together within the first year of operation in Australia,
all signs pointed to great years of advancement ahead. The
future held forth a glowing challenge.

Financing Through the N.Y.P.S.—As mentioned above,
the N.Y.P.S. planned to raise a total of $50,000 during the
quadrennium of 1944-48 to apply on the development of a
work in Australia. The first year that this project was pre-
sented brought forth a phenomenal response. Young people
over the entire denomination sensed the urgency of this
unusual opportunity. When the money was all counted, the
grand total raised during the first year of the quadrennium
amounted to more than $40,000. The leading contributors to
this huge offering were the Southern California N.Y.P.S. and
the Michigan N.Y.P.S. They gave $9,269.48 and $6,872.64 re-
spectively. Funds were now available for a more aggressive
program in Australia.

Appointment of a District Superintendent—As plans for
the future of the Australian work were projected it became
apparent that a superintendent of the work was needed. Ac-
cordingly the Board of General Superintendents appointed
Dr. E. E. Zachary to serve in this capacity. He had gained
valuable experience for this assignment during the time that
he had served as a pastor and church administrator. At the
time he was notified of his appointment to Australia, in
the spring of 1946, he was the district superintendent of the
Kansas District.

He and his family set sail for the “land down under” in
a few months, and they arrived in Brisbane on October 16,
1946. They were greeted by the four preachers who had
made the Church of the Nazarene their choice. This group
included Rev. Albert Berg, Rev. A. C. Chesson, Rev. Arthur
Clarke, and Rev. W. D. Pinch.

Immediately Albert Berg and E. E. Zachary investigated
various cities to find places for prospective churches. Cottage

73









Soon Dr. Zachary was invited to conduct a revival. At
the close of the meeting another Church of the Nazarene was
added to the rapidly growing list. Church number five was
organized about Easter time, 1948. Mr. Clucas was placed
in charge of the work. Since this assignment he has become
a regular minister in promoting the interests of the Kingdom.

Using the “Showers of Blessing” Program—Another sign
of advancement was the extensive use made of the “Showers
of Blessing” radio program. Early in the history of the
Australian work the leaders realized that they must place
the phrase “Church of the Nazarene” in the minds and on the
lips of the people. One of the best ways of developing this
awareness was to broadcast the name through the radio. The
quality of programs released through “Showers of Blessing”
would give a wonderful first impression of the Church of the
Nazarene. The Australian Nazarenes were willing to sacrifice
to the limit in order to bring this program to their people.
During 1947 the way was opened for this religious broadcast
to be released through three stations. The program was aired
in Brisbane, Towoomba, and Murwillumbah. This was only
the beginning. Since that time “Showers of Blessing” has

been a vital factor in promoting the interests of the Church
of the Nazarene.

Distributing Nazarene Literature—Another important de-
velopment in these early days was the distribution of Nazarene
literature. This matter was considered so important that a
Nazarene book depository was established in Brisbane, in 1947.
The depository was designated as the Australian agency for
the Nazarene Publishing House. Through this outlet hundreds
of copies of the Herald of Holiness and the Other Sheep were
distributed. Also many books on holiness were made available
to those who manifested an interest in the subject. The book
depository has become a permanent feature in the Australian
program.

Another phase of the literature promotional program was
the publication of a district paper called the Australian Naza-
rene. This was an eight-page, monthly periodical. It was
filled with devotional materials, particularly articles dealing
with holiness. Many American writers were asked to con-
tribute articles. The editor, Rev. Albert Berg, also searched
earlier issues of the Herald of Holiness for classic editorials.
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His power and presence was great and wonderful. There was
weeping, laughing, and shouts of praise. During this wonderful
manifestation of His presence seekers came to the altar. This mighty
blessing continued through the altar service when all seekers came
through. A testimony meeting followed in the same spirit. Hearts
were melted and blessed. Our people can now say they have seen
a manifestation of Pentecostal Power.

This came, we feel, as a seal upon the work of the Church of the
Nazarene in spreading Scriptural Holiness throughout Australia.
Many had read about such scenes, but none had heretofore seen
such an outpouring of Holy Ghost power. (Australian District, First
Assembly Journal, 1948, pp. 20-21.)

As this first District Assembly adjourned on Sunday
night, every person present realized that something wonderful
was in the making in Australia. A spirit of optimism pre-
vailed. Faith was at a new peak. The future offered an
unprecedented challenge and an unparalleled opportunity.

First Australian Nazarene Visits the United States—As a
gesture of good will Rev. Albert Berg was invited to come
to the United States and be present at the General Assembly
which would convene in June, 1948. According to the final
arrangements he was to make his trip to the States in April
and spend several weeks holding services in all sections of
this country. This would give him a chance to become ac-
quainted with our churches, and the homeland would receive
a firsthand account of activities in Australia.

Rev. Albert Berg fulfilled this mission remarkably well.
He was admired and appreciated by everyone who contacted
him. His effective ministry gave evidence that the church
had made a wonderful investment in Australia. His highly
successful tour was climaxed by a stirring message delivered
at the General Nazarene Young People’s Convention in June,
1948. He had won a host of new friends for the Australian
cause. All of these could be counted on to pay and pray for
this new field.

ADJUSTMENTS AND ADVANCEMENTS (1948-53)

General Superintendent H. V. Miller Visits Australia—
About the time Dr. E. E. Zachary had his district program
functioning in proper order he received notice from the im-
migration authorities that he could not receive a permit to
reside permanently in Australia. The only permit he would
be granted was a six months’ tourist visa. That meant that
he could remain in Australia only six months and then be
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The developments indicated that the Australian District
was promoting a well-rounded program. This new work was
incorporating all the characteristics of the parent organization.
All signs pointed forward and upward as the direction for this
consecrated group of Nazarenes to go.

Significant “Firsts” in Developing the Work—“Showers of
Blessing” radio program became so vital in promoting the
work that the first radio secretary was appointed in 1949.
Rev. H. L. R. Madder was selected for this position. He was
responsible for handling all mail relative to the program. He
also made contacts for new station outlets. His first report
given in January, 1950, included the following information:

We have a continual stream of letters from cur listeners, which indi-
cates that God is using “Showers of Blessing” in Australia, to bless
needy souls as well as break down prejudice against the Church
of the Nazarene and its message of holiness. . . . At present we
are on six stations in Australia. It is our prayerful objective that
we shall blanket Australia with the message of holiness, and
“Showers of Blessing” will help greatly to this glorious end.”
(Australian District, Third Assembly Journal, 1950, pp. 26-27.)

About this time the ministers of the district expressed
their desire to have special meetings to consider their mutual
problems and projects. This type of session was arranged
and the first District Preachers’ Meeting was held on January
2, 1950. This was the beginning of a series of similar meetings.
These sessions have been characterized by special spiritual
manifestations. The ministers are always better qualified for
their tasks after coming together for study and worship.

A district N.Y.P.S. president had been elected in 1948,
but the work had not advanced enough to justify a District
N.Y.P.S. Convention until 1950. In January, 1950, the first
district convention was conducted. The inspiration of this
convention gave a new impetus to the youth work. Under the
able leadership of Rev. S. G. Simmons many important goals
have been achieved.

The first District N.F.M.S. Convention was held in Janu-
ary, 1950. As early as 1948 a district president had been
elected and by 1950 the work had advanced to the stage that
a district convention was called. Mrs. Grace Dawson has
furnished effective leadership for this department. The
Australians have manifested a keen awareness of their re-
sponsibility to share the gospel with all peoples at home and
abroad.
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The first revival precipitated by the witnessing of laymen
flamed out of Adelaide, in September 15, 1951. The starting
point of this mighty sweep of the Holy Spirit came when
Mr. Peter Robinson received the baptism of the Holy Ghost.
His testimony was: “I know that the Lord has destroyed the
‘works of the devil’ in my heart. He’s drawn the glory
sword and sent it clear through the ‘old man.’ The carnal
nature has been hung on Calvary’s Blood-stained nails! Bless
the Lord. I am crucified with Him.” When Mr. Robinson
received the blessing he started telephoning his friends to
testify to them about his wonderful experience. This caused
his friends to become seekers and happy finders of this
dynamic relationship with the Lord. In home after home the
work of the Holy Spirit was manifested in an amazing fashion.
A revival of magnificent proportions was under way. The
influence of this spiritual movement touched many people
of various denominations. These victories indicated that the
Lord was pleased to give His best to those who yielded their
all to Him.

The first church building constructed in the name of the
Church of the Nazarene was completed on December 1, 1951.
It was built at Wynnum, which was formerly the Manly
church. This advance set the pattern for all the other churches
to follow. Since that time many new churches and parsonages
have been erected. This securing of permanent property in-
dicated that the Church of the Nazarene was making long-
range plans for the evangelization of Australia.

Founding the Nazarene Bible College—The district leaders
recognized the absolute necessity of sponsoring a Bible train-
ing program at the earliest possible date. The measure of
their concern was shown by the fact that in 1951 the Australian
Nazarenes raised a fund of $1,500 for establishing a Bible
college, although nothing tangible was in sight. As a climax
to these expectations the General N.Y.P.S. Council adopted
a project to provide $25,000 in 1952 for founding a Bible
college in Australia.

Following this commitment definite plans were made for
a school. The first step was the appointment of Dr. Richard
S. Taylor (author of Right Conception of Sin, Our Pacific
Outposts, and other books and articles) as president. He was
eminently qualified for this position. His pastoral experience
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and his educational training properly prepared him for his
assignment.

In October, 1952, Dr. and Mrs. Taylor and their son Paul
sailed for Australia. The older son, David, remained in the
States to pursue his educational studies. When the Taylor
family arrived in Australia, they were confronted with the
task of securing property and setting up the school program.

Several properties were considered but the final selection
was made in February, 1953. General Superintendent G. B.
Williamson was in Australia at this time to conduct the Dis-
trict Assembly. While there he helped to make final arrange-
ments for completing the property deal. According to the
best judgment of all concerned, a beautiful six-acre plot with
sufficient buildings to accommodate a school seemed to be
the wisest choice for the physical facilities of the prospective
school. This site is located in Sydney. After the transaction
was completed, everyone expressed the belief that the Lord
opened many doors to make such a purchase possible.

Dr. Richard Taylor worked almost day and night to have
everything in readiness for the opening of the new school.
With the major portion of preparation completed, announce-
ments were made that the school would open on March 10,
1953. In keeping with this schedule, on the day of registration
ten students enrolled to equip themselves for Christian service.

Dr. Taylor is assisted in the teaching program of the
school by Rev. C. A. Garratt.

The enrollment of the school the second year reached
eleven full-time students, then to fifteen the third year.

The Lord’s blessings have been poured out upon the
school since the opening day. Through this channel the
evangelizing of Australia will be accelerated.

At present the school has an enrollment of eighteen.
Some of these are from New Zealand. This indicates that the
influence of the Bible college will be felt throughout the
English-speaking peoples of the Far East.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Fraternal Ties—The church in the homeland has main-
tained personal contact with the church on the “continent
down under.” The exchange of fraternal representatives has
been a profitable project. Australia has been well represented
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or aborigines, numbering 80,000. These dark-skinned people
have been neglected both spiritually and culturally. Occasion-
ally a gallant servant of the Lord would become burdened
about these backward people. At great sacrifice he would
go among them to declare the gospel. One such warrior was
Rev. Douglas Pinch, who affiliated with the Church of the
Nazarene in April, 1946. He was assisted by his wife. After
they became associated with the Church of the Nazarene
they doubled their efforts to evangelize the natives. This
meant that from the beginning of our work in Australia some-
thing has been done to lift the degraded lives of the neglected
native population.

Soon after Dr. Zachary arrived in Australia he took an
inventory of the accomplishments made by Rev. Douglas
Pinch among the natives. Dr. Zachary found that there were
seven preaching places, two native helpers, and about a dozen
young people anxious to preach to their own people. The
native worker whose name appears most often in these re-
ports is Rev. Langus Phillips.

During April, 1947, Mr. Pinch arranged for a native camp
meeting in the vicinity of Fingal Heads, New South Wales.
The preachers for the camp were Dr. Zachary, Mr. Berg, and
Mr. Pinch. The former gave the following description of the
occasion:

It is almost like Africa! Ha! We have tents erected in a reserve
near Brother Phillips’ home. At night the tents are lighted with
kerosene lanterns and about all you see is more blackness with
little white spots looking up at you. But they are earnestly want-
ing the message. . . . This will have a wide influence throughout
the whole couniry of natives. There are groups here from over
all of New South Wales and Queensland.

At the time of the first Australian assembly in April,
1948, one of the regular committees appointed was the com-
mittee on Australian native work. Its report indicated the
vital interest that the district had in this type of work. Among
the recommendations adopted were the following:

1. That suitable accommodation be provided for the missionary
and his family; for the native pastor and his family.

2. That we endeavour to erect chapels in the areas where the major
works are being carried on.

3. That playground equipment and materials be provided, and that
the natives be encouraged to participate in the erection and
preservation of such equipment.
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7. That the native young people who have considerable musical
talent be provided with stringed instruments to allow them to
participate in the conducting of the services.

8. Finally, that the missionaries make available to the local church
pastors in the form of a regular prayer letter, such up-to-date
information concerning the native work as will promote the vital
interest and earnest prayers of the people of the Church. (First
Assembly Journal, Australian District, 1948, p. 27.)

Each assembly during the history of the Australian work
has appointed a committee on Australian native work. All of
the churches consider that they have a responsibility in help-
ing to promote the native work, so they keep the subject
constantly before them. This spirit of sharing with these
neglected people is bringing wonderful dividends.

Organizing Churches Among the Natives—By 1948 a
church had been organized among the natives at Fingal Heads,
New South Wales, with Langus Phillips as the pastor. The
church had a membership of seventeen and a Sunday school
enrollment of fifty. In 1950 another church was started at
Parry’s Estate, New South Wales, and Rev. Douglas Pinch
was installed as pastor. He continued in this capacity for three
years; then he took a regular church on the district.

Another missionary couple volunteered their services for
work among the natives. In 1953 this heroic couple, Rev. and
Mrs. C. J. Lee, became the successors of Mr. Pinch. At the
present Rev. W. E. Bromley is the missionary to the natives.

Special Aid from Outside Sources—Sufficient merit has
been associated with our program among the natives that
outside agencies have offered special assistance in providing
better living conditions for the natives. Both the government
and service clubs have made grants to subsidize our efforts to
bring more benefits to the natives. For instance, the New
South Wales Lands Department deeded a church site to the
Church of the Nazarene with the stipulation that a church
program would be developed for the people of that area. Also
the Rotary Club in Tweed Heads, New South Wales, donated
some playground equipment to Mr. Pinch to be used in his
recreational activity.

As this phase of the work has continued to develop, the
district has under consideration a series of long-range plans.
This forward-looking program includes an aboriginal Bible
training school and a native children’s home. The vision of
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the district leaders is to give the full gospel to all the peoples
of Australia.

Prospect—The holiness trail in Australia has fanned out
in all directions from the original work in Brisbane. These
trails extend 610 miles north to Mackay, 1,800 miles across to
Adelaide, 70 miles into the coastal area at Fingal among the
natives, and 670 miles west to Quilpie. These trails have been
freighted with dangers and obstacles, but the dauntless courage
of the holiness pioneers of this region under the anointing
of the Holy Spirit have made a tremendous impact upon the
religious life of Australia.

With the amassed material assets and the numerical
strength of both talented ministers and lay leaders, the future
can be described as a luminous trail. Lighted by flaming de-
votion, heroic self-sacrifice, and irrepressible fervor, the
contingent geographically known as “down under” may be-
come spiritually known as “up high.”
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ture. In a surprising manner an ever-widening market for
our Nazarene publications has been found in Christian circles
throughout the country. A gift of a printing press from the
Nazarene Publishing House has greatly assisted in the problem
of producing Sunday school literature in the Afrikaans
language.

“Showers of Blessing” Radio Program-—One of the most
vital factors contributing to the success of our work in South
Africa has been the influence exercised through the “Showers
of Blessing” broadcast. Some of the most powerful stations in
the South African region broadcast this program. From the
opening days of our work in this area until the present this
program has been a valuable means of breaking down preju-
dice, introducing the church to new friends, and opening doors
which would never have been pried loose through any other
medium. At present all of South Africa is blanketed with “the
voice of the Church of the Nazarene” and the mail response
indicates that a large radio audience listens every week.

Healing Victories for the Stricklands—The Strickland
family have been blessed with good health for most of their
period of service in South Africa. Occasionally it has been
necessary to call on the Lord for special assistance if the health
picture was to remain normal. The first test along this line
was back in July, 1949, when young Charles was stricken with
a serious attack of cholera. For weeks there seemed little
chance for survival, and if he should pull through some of his
vital organs would be permanently damaged. The many
prayers in his behalf brought a complete restoration.

The second test of faith came in May, 1951, when Rev.
Charles Strickland became gravely ill from an attack of
malaria and tick bite fever. The combination almost proved
fatal, but again the Lord became a factor and normal health
was regained.

The third health emergency developed in June, 1952, when
Mrs. Strickland gave birth to twin boys, Dudley and Douglas.
Complications developed that caused her life to be in the
balance for several days. This ordeal was extra hard because
Rev. Charles Strickland was in the States at that particular
time to attend the General Assembly of the Church of the
Nazarene. Prayers of devoted Christians brought her back to
normal health once more.
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We should continue to pray for our Negro evangelism, to the end
that a genuine holiness church may be developed throughout the
Gulf Central District. The need is great. Many of these people are
without any religious training whatsoever. Many, many others
belong to some church but have never known salvation through
the Lorfd Jesus. The fields are ripe unto harvest, and the laborers
are so few.

List of Pioneers of Colored Churches to 1953—Special
mention should be made of those who have labored so coura-
geously to pioneer a project which resulted in the organization
of colored churches. That list is as follows:

Person Place Date
M. M. Snyder (white) New Orleans Bethel, Louisiana 1945
J. J. Boggan Institute, West Virginia 1946
Mrs. Leila B. Williams Meridian, Mississippi 1946
Warren A. Rogers Indianapolis, Indiana 1947
Mrs. Bertha Jones
(white) Oakland Bethel, California 1949
S. H. Garcia (Mexican) San Antonio, Texas 1949
C. Johnson Columbus, Mississippi 1949
Mrs. Mildred Marshall Los Angeles, California 1950
Warren A. Rogers Detroit, Michigan 1950
J. F. Peoples Chicago, Illinois 1950
Jack L. Riley (white) Pasadena Bethel, California 1951
C. Johnson Brookhaven, Mississippi 1951
J. J. Boggan All Nations Church, Portland,
Oregon 1951

Conclusion—The work among the colored people is be-
ginning to take on a pattern which will give guidance for
future activity. At first the territory looked so large, the
workers were so few, and there were no precedents to help
direct the program. The task was so gigantic that it was
difficult to find a place to take hold of that might be classified
as a start. With the passing of time and the gaining of ex-
perience many phases of the work are taking shape and this
becomes a vital foundation for future developments. Patience
and faithfulness are the two qualities most necessary for this
program.

The problem created by lack of trained workers is gradu-
ally being solved. Several promising young people are being
attracted to the Church of the Nazarene and answering a call
to preach. The product of Nazarene Bible Institute as a train-
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CHAPTER IX
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The outreach of the Department of Home Missions makes
an important contribution to the world-wide program of
evangelization of the church. Every phase of the church’s
activity is vitally influenced by the operations stemming from
this department.

INFLUENCES ON THE DomEsTiCc FRONT

On the Local Level—Dr. Smee has presented the challenge
of organizing 1,000 new churches during this gquadrennium.
To make this tangible for every district, the Board of General
Superintendents figured a quota for each to realize. In formu-
lating a specific goal of this type, encouragement has been
furnished for pioneering many new local groups.

At the same time grants of $500 to $1,500 each have been
made to districts for twelve important population centers
where there is an excellent home missions opportunity but
beyond the ability of the local districts to finance a loan.
These grants are spent under the direction of the district
superintendent and the district advisory board.

Also, churches in building programs have received sub-
stantial aid. At present almost $700,000 are in use on long- or
short-term loans. About seventy-five local churches are bene-
fiting by this phase of the program.

Churches in the planning stage of a building program
have been given a chance to study the blueprints which have
been worked out by expert architects and made available
through the Department of Home Missions. The latest books
and designs for church structures are in the lending library
maintained by the department. A total of over 100 requests
have been answered relative to this matter in the past year.

On the District Level—The Department of Home Missions
stands ready to give financial assistance to districts which
have limited income and small and scattered memberships.
During 1956 sixteen districts received approximately $33,750
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